FILED

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

11-04-2024

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT WURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent

٧.

Appeal No.: 2024AP000524 (Sauk County Circuit Court Case No. 2023TR001025)

COLIN R. DOWLING,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE PATRICIA A. BARRETT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Attorney Robert G. Dowling State Bar No. 1016707 Attorney For Defendant-Appellant

Law Offices Of Robert G. Dowling 1284 Garrett Bluff Court Ellison Bay, WI 54210 Phone No. (920) 854-6889 Mobile No. (414) 491-0971 Email: rgdlaw@yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Given the undisputed fact Dowling's reduced speed was "necessary for the safe operation" of the car in which he and his family were traveling, was his conviction for violating Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1) clearly erroneous as a matter of law?

<u>Trial Court Answer</u>: This issue was not addressed by the trial court even though it was raised by Dowling in his Argument in Support of a Not Guilty Verdict (Doc. 15, p. 3).

2. Were the trial court's findings that at the time of the alleged violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1): (1) the speed of Dowling's car was "somewhere in the forties;" and (2) the only two vehicles observed by the State Patrol Trooper in the area "approached from the back and went around" Dowling's car sufficient, as a matter of law, to establish a violation of § 346.59(1), given the other, undisputed evidence that Dowling's car was traveling in the right lane of the two westbound lanes of Interstate I90/94 with no minimum speed limit on a clear winter night with its headlights and emergency four-way flashers on?

<u>Trial Court Answer</u>: "Yes."

3. Was the trial court's apparent belief that the reduced speed of Dowling's car could be "not [sic] enough to cause vehicles unable in the dark to get a clear understanding of how slow the vehicle was going to kind of move around it" legally sufficient to establish a violation of § 346.59(1) where there was no evidence Dowling actually impeded traffic?

<u>Trial Court Answer</u>: The trial court implicitly concluded "Yes."

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 8 of 42

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Dowling does not believe oral argument will be necessary, as the issues raised can be fully addressed in the briefs.

Publication of the decision is warranted as this case appears to be the first appellate case in Wisconsin, and in other jurisdictions having statutes identical or substantially similar to Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1), where the issue of whether a vehicle's reduced speed was "necessary for safe operation" precludes a conviction for a violation of the statute is directly presented. Additionally, this appears to be the first appellate case in Wisconsin where the question of whether a vehicle's reduced speed must actually impede "the normal and reasonable movement of traffic" to establish a violation of § 346.59(1). The decision in this case will provide guidance to motorists, law enforcement, litigants and courts on these matters.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves the propriety of Dowling's conviction by the trial court of violating Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1), Wisconsin's "impeding traffic" statute, where: (1) the car he and his family were in was traveling at approximately 45 m.p.h. in the right lane of an interstate highway at night with its headlights and four-way emergency flashers on; (2) it is undisputed Dowling's reduced speed was "necessary for the safe operation" of his car; and (3) the only two vehicles in the area safely passed his car by moving into the open left lane without having to brake or even slow down.

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 9 of 42

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

Dowling and his family were driving their Tesla on Interstate 190/94 to Lake Delton the night off January 19,2023. The Tesla's battery began dissipating much faster than normal and the car's computer instructed Dowling to drive a reduced speed to reach the next Tesla charger in Lake Delton. He passed a state trooper who subsequently pulled him over. Dowling was charged with violating Wis. Stat. § 346.04(2t) for "failing to stop his ... vehicle as promptly as safety reasonably permits" since he delayed stopping his car while driving approximately 27 m.p.h. on the shoulder in the hope he could have 991 have the trooper follow them to the nearby Tesla charger. He was also cited for impeding traffic in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1).

The § 346.04(2t) charge, Sauk County Circuit Court Case No 2013CT00039, was tried to a jury on November 27, 2023, with the parties agreeing to have the trial court adjudicate the impeding traffic citation based on the evidence presented in the jury trial. The jury returned a guilty verdict that night and the court set December 20, 2023 for a hearing on disposition of the impeding traffic citation and for sentencing on the § 346.04(2t) conviction.

Dowling filed with the court his "Argument in Support of a Not Guilty Verdict" (Doc. 15, p. 3) and the court also heard argument from the parties at the December 20, 2023 hearing. The trial court found Dowling guilty of impeding traffic in violation § 346.59(1). In doing so, it found that the evidence showed the trooper saw "a slow-moving vehicle in the right lane and wasn't quite sure exactly how slow it was at that point, but cars approached from the back and went around, and he thought he saw two of

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 10 of 42

them do that." The trial court also concluded that when the trooper observed the Tesla "it was doing someplace in the forties." (Cir. Ct. Doc. No. 31, pp. 8-10; App., pp. 8-9).

This appeal followed. (Doc. 19)

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of January 19, 2023 Dowling, his wife and two children, ages 4 and 3 were traveling in their Tesla sedan from their home in the Chicago area to spend a couple of nights in Lake Delton, Wisconsin. (Doc. 30, pp. 92-93; 119) The Tesla is an all-electric vehicle with a sophisticated computer system. The computer provides information as to the current battery level as well as the % of charge needed to reach a specified destination and the expected remaining battery level on arriving at the destination. In making those calculations the computer takes into account various factors, including highway speeds and weather conditions. (Doc. 30, pp. 106-07,120-22)

They added charge to the Tesla in Kenosha and there was more than enough charge to reach a Tesla charger in Madison. (Doc. 30, p. 94, 106) As they neared Madison the computer indicated there would still be 1% charge remaining if they continued on to Lake Delton without stopping. Nonetheless, Dowling and his wife decided to stop at the Tesla charging station just off Interstate I90/94 in Madison. (Doc. 30, pp. 106-07, 109, 128-29)

The Tesla computer advised them that 12% battery level would be required to safely reach the Tesla charger in Lake Delton by continuing on I-90/94. However, to provide a greater safety cushion, they charged it to 20%. They planned on fully charging the battery overnight at the hotel they would be staying at. (Doc. 30, pp. 106-07, 109,128-29, 149-50)

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 11 of 42

After driving for a while at the prevailing speed of traffic. the computer system advised Dowling to reduce the speed to 70 m.ph to safely reach the Telsa charger at the Lake Delton exit. Dowling set the cruise control at 70 m.ph. A while later, the display indicated he should reduce the speed to 65 m.p.h., which he did while staying in the right lane. Later, the computer directed him to reduce the speed to 60 m.p.h., which he did. He put on the four-way emergency flashers at this point. A short distance later the computer system indicated the speed could be increased to 65. He increased his speed accordingly and turned off the emergency flashers. (Doc. 30, pp. 129-131)

After passing exit 106, the Highway 33 exit for Baraboo and the last exit before Lake Delton, the computer once again instructed him to reduce the speed to 60 m.p.h. He did so and put the emergency flashers back on. About four miles later, the computer indicated the speed now needed to be reduced to 55 m.p.h., and then within about 0.1 mile later the recommended speed was now 50 m.ph. At that point they were about six miles past the last exit. (Doc. 30, pp. 132-33) He drove at 50 m.p.h. for a while but shortly before reaching the area where Highway T passes over I90 the computer directed him to reduce the speed to 45 m.p.h., which he did. This area was also referred to at the trial as the "07 crossover" because it is located at mile marker 97. (Doc. 30, pp. 126-27) Dowling used cruise control to make sure the Tesla stayed right at the recommended speeds. (Doc. 30, p. 131)

As Dowling and his wife were driving at the slower and slower speeds they became seriously concerned the Tesla would simply stop running and would have to be stopped on the shoulder. Mrs. Dowling began Googling to find out what reserve, if any, the Tesla would have after the displayed battery Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 12 of 42

level reached 0%, which they were getting close to. She learned there was, unfortunately, no reserve. (Doc. 30, pp. 99-100)

It was a winter night in a dark, rural section of Interstate 190 with the nearest exit, Exit 92, still a number of miles away. Dowling and his wife had already other taken steps to reduce the demand on the battery, including turning down the heat. Their two young children were huddling in the rear seat. There was no emergency kit in the car. Had the Tesla simply stopped running it was unknown how cold it would get in the car, how long the headlights and emergency flashers would remain on, and how long they would be stranded on the shoulder with the risk of being struck by another vehicle. (Doc. 30, pp. 96, 101-02, 119, 152)

They knew that if the Tesla stopped with a very low battery level remaining there was a significant risk there would not be enough charge left to get the Tesla moving again. In fact, the Tesla displays that specific warning if you do stop it in that condition. Complicating the problem presented by those circumstances is the fact the Tesla is always "idling" when it is stopped, further depleting an already extremely low charge. (Doc. 30, p. 140, 162-63)

Dowling and his wife had not experienced this type of problem with the Tesla before. To the contrary, in their experience the computer was quite accurate in calculating the charge needed to reach a destination. They had not had any problems in the first two and a half hours of their trip that night. The charging cushion they thought they had when they left Madison was now of no benefit. (Doc. 30, pp. 103-04, 163-64)

As they were driving at the reduced speeds Dowling made a point of checking for approaching vehicles. No vehicles had any problems in simply moving to the left lane to pass them. (Doc. 30, pp. 99,133-34)

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 13 of 42

A short time after passing the 97 crossover Dowling noticed a vehicle coming up behind him in the right lane. As the vehicle got closer he recognized it as a police squad. The squad had actually been stopped at the crossover when Dowling passed it. The squad came up very close to the rear of the Tesla and turned on its overhead lights. Dowling pulled onto the right shoulder and reduced the Tesla's speed to about 27 m.p.h. At the same time, he called 911 asking for assistance from the officer in the squad to follow them to the Lake Delton exit, which was only a few miles away. (Doc. 30, pp. 100,134-35)

Included for the court's benefit at page 6 of the Appendix is a Map of Relevant Portions Of Interstate I90 and Relevant Landmarks. (It is referenced as "Exhibit No. 13 – Map" in Sauk County Clerk Certificate of Aug. 19, 2024 (App. Doc. No. 38))

He called 911 because the battery level, which had been decreasing far faster than normal, was at or near 0%. He and his wife were afraid that if they stopped the Tesla at that low of a battery level there would not be enough charge left to get it moving again, which would leave them stranded on the shoulder until a flat-bed tow truck could take it to the Tesla charger. It was their hope the 911 operator could reach the trooper and simply have him follow them to the Lake Delton exit. (Doc. 30, pp. 100,134-35,140-41)

After briefly describing the situation to the 911 operator, the operator transferred him to State Patrol Dispatch. After Dowling once again began to try to explain the situation and his family's concern to the dispatcher, the dispatcher realized another dispatcher was on the line with the trooper in the squad following the Tesla on the shoulder. The dispatcher Dowling was speaking with then told him he needed to stop despite the condition of the Tesla. Dowling then immediately stopped. About three minutes elapsed from when the squad lights were turned on to when the Tesla stopped on the

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 14 of 42

shoulder. (Doc. 14, pp. 41-42.). When he stopped the Tesla, Dowling, in fact, did get a message alert about the potential inability to get the car moving again. (Doc. 30, pp. 102, 138-39, 140-41, 162-63)

The trooper charged Dowling with violating Wis. Stat. § 346.04(2t) because he had not stopped the Tesla as soon as the trooper thought he should have. He also cited Dowling for impeding traffic in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1). At Dowling's request the trooper then followed him on the shoulder to the Tesla charger at the Lake Delton exit, traveling at the same speed he initially did on the shoulder. Fortunately, Dowling and his family were able to reach the charger even though the battery level was 0%. (Doc. 30, p. 161)

Dowling was able to confirm the Tesla's speeds and battery levels at various points along its travel from Madison to Lake Delton by retrieving and reviewing data stored in the Tesla computer system. The data was assembled in a spread sheet marked as Exhibit 14 in the jury trial in Cir. Ct. Case No. 2023CT000039 labeled Doc. 73. (Doc. 30, pp. 123-24)

The arresting trooper, who had been a trooper for less than a year and a half at the time of the incident, testified he observed a slow-moving Tesla approach the 97 crossover where he was parked. (Doc. 14, pp. 14, 25, 31-32) It was in the right lane with its emergency lights on. As the Tesla passed him there were no other vehicles around. (*Id.*). When the Tesla drove further up the road he saw two cars travelling at "highway speed" approach the Tesla in the right lane and then move into the left lane to pass the Tesla. They were the only vehicles in the area at that time other than the Tesla. (Doc. 14, pp. 31-32) That was the entirety of his testimony regarding the interaction between the Tesla and any other vehicle cars. He did not testify to observing either car braking or slowing down as they approached

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 15 of 42

the Tesla and moved into to the left lane to pass. Nor did he testify as to how far each car was from the Tesla before moving into the left lane.

The trooper explained the manner in which his squad camera recorded a video of his subsequent driving to catch up with the Telsa and pull it over. When he turns his squad's overhead lights on the camera preserves video of the prior 30 seconds and of all further action under it is turned off. In this case, the squad video shows the movement of the squad car beginning when it is already in the left lane and then moving into to the right lane as it catches up with the Tesla. The flash drive containing the video covering his catching up to the Tesla, pulling it over and the traffic stop was marked as Exhibit 1 in the criminal traffic trial and was included as a part of the Record on Appeal as indicated in the Sauk County Clerk Certificate of Aug. 19, 2024, (App. Doc. No. 38). The flash drive has two videos on it. The one showing the events up the completion of the traffic stop is titled 19012023215258.wmv. (Doc. 14, 27-28, 40)

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 16 of 42

ARGUMENT

I. Dowling Did Not Violate Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1) Because It Was Undisputed His Reduced Speed Was "Necessary For Safe Operation."

Wis. Stat. § 346.59, titled "Minimum Speed Regulation," states:

- (1) No person shall drive a motor vehicle at a speed so slow as to impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic except when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation or is necessary to comply with the law.
- (2) The operator of a vehicle moving at a speed so slow as to impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic shall, if practicable, yield the roadway to an overtaking vehicle and shall move at a reasonably increased speed or yield the roadway to overtaking vehicles when directed to do so by a traffic officer.

Subsection (1) clearly states that "when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation" the prohibition against "imped[ing] the normal and reasonable movement of traffic" does not apply,

As noted earlier, the trial court did not address Dowling's defense that it was undisputed his reduced speed was necessary for the safe operation of the Tesla and, in turn, the protection of his family. In any event, the standard of review of the application of a statute to facts is a question of law subject to independent review by the appellate courts. **State v. Booker**, 717 N.W.2d 676, 2006 WI 79, § 12 (Wis. 2006)

When the trooper observed the two cars move around the Tesla to pass, the Tesla was in the right lane with its headlights and four-way emergency flashers on. Dowling's reduced speed was necessary to reach the Tesla charging station at the upcoming exit for Lake Delton. The Telsa

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-04-2024 Page 17 of 42

computer system had been directing him to drive at increasingly reduced speeds to reach the charging station and avoid being stranded on the shoulder of the interstate highway because the battery level was dropping abnormally. When the trooper observed the Tesla, it was long past the prior exit, Exit 106 for Highway 33, and was only a few miles from the next exit, Exit 92 for Lake Delton, the exit Dowling was trying to reach.

Had Dowling not followed the instructions from the Tesla computer he and his family faced the very real risk the Tesla would simply stop running and would have to be stopped on the shoulder. It was a winter night in a dark, rural section of Interstate I90 with the nearest exit, Exit 92, still a number of miles away. Dowling and his wife had already other taken steps to reduce the demand on the battery, including turning down the heat. Their two young children were already huddling in the rear seat. There was no emergency kit in the car. Had the Tesla simply stopped running it was unknown how cold it would get in the car, how long the headlights and emergency flashers would remain on, and how long they would be stranded on the shoulder with the risk of being struck by another vehicle.

Unlike a gasoline powered vehicle, one cannot simply bring the equivalent of a gas can to the Tesla to allow it to get going again. A Tesla with a depleted battery can only be "refueled" at an electrical charging station and must be towed there by a flat-bed tow truck.

It is not uncommon to see vehicles driving on interstate and other highways at significantly reduced speeds out of necessity in order to operate safely. Probably the most common sighting involves a semi-tractor trailer or another large truck, a vehicle towing a large trailer or a large RV having to drive significantly below the posted speed limit because they are going up a grade, are first pulling onto a highway or simply do not have enough power to reach the posted speed limit all the time. Other instances of vehicles

needed to be driven at a reduced speed are those having mechanical issues that either limit the speed of the vehicle or make it unsafe to drive at a higher speed. With newer cars, a driver changing a flat tire will have frequently have to use a much smaller temporary spare tire, a "donut," that the manufacturer usually warns against operating at normal highway speeds. Moving trailers rented by consumers typically specify they should not be operated above a certain speed, which is often below the posted speed limit.¹

Motorists regularly encounter these slower moving vehicles at all times of day and night. On some occasions, but certainly not all, the vehicles have their emergency flashers on, as was true here.

There do not appear to be any published decisions in Wisconsin or in other jurisdictions that have directly considered the "necessary for safe operation" exception as a complete defense to an alleged violation of . However, two cases have been found which do provide some guidance on this question.

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