Filed 01-27-2025

Page 1 of 28

FILED

01-27-2025 CLERK OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2024AP524 Circuit Court Case No. 23TR1025

COLIN R. DOWLING,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE PATRICIA A. BARRETT, PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Natalia J. Gess Assistant District Attorney Sauk County District Attorney's Office 515 Oak Street Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-3280 State Bar No. 1115667

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

true." City of Milwaukee v. Wilson, 96 Wis. 2d 11, 21, 291 N.W.2d 452 (1980) (citing Lock v. State, 31 Wis.2d 110, 114–15, 142 N.W.2d 183 (1966)). A reviewing court's task is limited "to determining whether the evidence presented could have convinced a trier of fact, acting reasonably, that the appropriate burden of proof had been met." Wilson, 96 Wis. 2d at 21. While appellate courts are to review the application of law de novo, they are able to benefit from the lower court's analysis. See City of Muskego v. Godec, 167 Wis.2d 536, 545, 482 N.W.2d 79 (1992).

In relevant part, Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1) states, "[n]o person shall drive a motor vehicle at a speed so slow as to impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic except when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation" Proof of violation of this statute requires proof of two elements:

- (1) The defendant was driving a motor vehicle.
- (2) The speed of the defendant's vehicle was so slow as to impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic.

Wis. JI—Civil 1300. The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to show Dowling violated Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1). The officer's attention was drawn to Dowling's vehicle based on its slow speed and the fact that cars were having to go around him. R.14-86; App. 086; R.31-8; App. 371. The trial court seemed to find the Trooper credible in his testimony that he saw two vehicles going around Dowling's vehicle because the circuit court noted "Cars approached from the back and went around. The trooper thought he saw two of them do that." R.31-9; App. 372. The circuit court also found that vehicles whipped around the defendant's vehicle pretty quickly. R.14-83; App. 083.

The circuit court then went on to analyze the change in Dowling's speed. The Court noted that from a period of about 9:16pm until about

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-27-2025 Page 13 of 28

9:30pm, Dowling traveled at somewhere between 71 and 84 miles-perhour. It went up and down in that range. R.31-9; App. 372. There was a significant reduction in speed at about 9:45pm when Dowling reduced his speed to the sixties and then to the fifties. The circuit court noted this was about a 30 percent reduction of the speed that traffic was traveling on the interstate (i.e. a 30 percent reduction from 70 miles per hour). R.31-9; App. 372. Between 9:45pm and 9:53pm, Dowling reduced speed again to the mid-forties. This was a 57 percent reduction of normal interstate speed. The Court found that it was fairly certain Dowling traveled at someplace in the forties when the trooper observed Dowling's vehicle. R.31-9; App. 372.

Dowling has not challenged the circuit court's factual findings, nor presented any evidence the court's findings were clearly erroneous. Thus this court shall not set aside the circuit court's findings, and shall give due regard to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses. See Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). Here, Dowling drove his vehicle at 40 miles-per-hour on the interstate. This is after Dowling decreased his speed from 71-84 miles-per-hour to "someplace in the forties" in the span of seven minutes. That slow speed combined with the trooper's observations of two vehicles approaching from the back and going around Dowling's slow-moving vehicle show that those two vehicles were impeded by Dowling's slow speed.

a. By Its Plain Language, Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1) Does Not Require Traffic Be Impeded For a Violation to Occur.

"The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended

effect." State v. Buchanan, 2013 WI 31, ¶ 23, 346 Wis. 2d 735, 828 N.W.2d 847 (quoting State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73, ¶42, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238) (additional citations omitted). When a reviewing court interprets a statute, it "begins with the plain language of the statute." State v. Dinkins, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339 Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787 (citing State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, \P 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). A court "generally give[s] words and phrases their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." Id. (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45). A reviewing court is to "interpret statutory" language reasonably, 'to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. (quoting Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46). "An interpretation that contravenes the manifest purpose of the statute is unreasonable." Id. (citing Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 49). "[S] tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. In determining the plain language meaning of a statute, a court may consider the scope, context, and purpose of the statute, so long as they "are ascertainable from the text and structure of the statute itself." Id. ¶ 48.

Wis. Stat. § 346.59 governs minimum speed violations. Subsection (1) of that statute states,

"No person shall drive a motor vehicle at a speed so slow as to impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic except when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation or is necessary to comply with the law."

Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1). The issue here is whether Wis. Stat. § 346.59 requires a certain number of vehicles to be affected by another driver's speed for the statute to be violated. The State argues it does not.

Interpretation of this statute hinges on the meaning of the preposition "as to" within the context of the statute. In reading the statute, the legislature appears to focus on the speed of the vehicle, not what happens as a result of the speed. The word "impede" is understood to mean "to interfere with or slow the progress of." See Impede, MERRIAM-WEBSTER ONLINE DICTIONARY, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/impede (last visited Dec. 3, 2024). "As to" is directly before "impede," which means "as to" modifies the verb "impede."

If the legislature intended to prohibit impeding traffic, the legislature would have phrased the statute to focus on impeding. For example, the statute would say, "No person shall impede traffic by slow speed except when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation or is necessary to comply with the law." But that's not what the statute says. The statute prohibits driving at a speed so slow such that it would interfere with *or* slow down traffic. The subject of the statute is the speed of the vehicle. Dowling asks the court to focus on whether he slowed traffic, but this argument ignores half of the definition of "impede." The State asserts Dowling both interfered with and slowed the normal movement of traffic.

Dowling's slow speed interfered with the normal movement of traffic as it caused vehicles to deviate from their intended lane of travel in an effort to avoid colliding with Dowling's rear. Trooper Nicholson testified that he saw two vehicles approached from the back and go around Dowling's vehicle. R.31-9; App. 372. Whether the other vehicles had to slow down to do so is not the key factor. What matters is that Dowling interfered with the progress of those two vehicles on the road.

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-27-2025 Page 16 of 28

Dowling also violated the statute by slowing down the movement of traffic. Wis. Stat. § 340.01(68) defines "traffic" as "pedestrians, ridden or herded or driven animals, vehicles and other conveyances, either singly or together, while using any highway for the purpose of travel." Wis. Stat. § 346.01 states that the words and phrases defined in § 340.01 are used in the same sense in this chapter unless a different definition is specifically provided. A police squad car is indisputably a "vehicle" and thus constitutes traffic under Wis. Stat. § 346.59 because even a single vehicle constitutes "traffic" under the Wisconsin statutes. Trooper Nicholson testified that as he was approaching the slow-moving vehicle at highway speeds, he had to dramatically decrease his speed to stay behind the vehicle. R.14-33; App. 033; Ex. 1. This shows that Trooper Nicholson's vehicles was impeded by the defendant's slow speed, thus the defendant violated the statute regardless of whether other vehicles were actually impeded.

The cases cited by the defendant do not support the defendant's arguments on this point. State v. Baudhuin, 141 Wis. 2d 642, 416 N.W.2d 60 (1987) does not state that a minimum number of vehicles is necessary to violate § 346.59, and the clear language of Wis. Stat. § 340.01(68) demonstrates a single vehicle constitutes "traffic" for the purposes of § 346.59. Baudhuin concluded that a police officer's subjective intent not to issue a citation did not impact the reasonable suspicion analysis where articulable facts to believe a defendant violated a traffic law were present. Further, Slattery v. Lofy, 45 Wis. 2d 155, 172 N.W.2d 341 (1969), involved a civil suit where the court determined that a motorist traveling 15 to 18 miles per hour, when he was struck from the rear, was not the cause of the accident where the motorist was entering an area where

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-27-2025 Page 17 of 28

reduced speed was required and passing lane was free of traffic. Neither case state that a specific number of vehicles need to be affected by another driver's speed for Wis. Stat. § 346.59 to be violated. Dowling provides little argument as to why *Baudhuin or Lofy* require a different interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.59 than an interpretation that follows the clear language of § § 340.01 and 346.01.

III. "Safe Operation of the Vehicle" Does Not Include the Ability of a Driver to Reach His/Her Destination.

Determination of whether Dowling's speed was necessary for safe operation requires interpretation of what qualifies as safe operation under the statute. Dowling argues he needed to drive 45 miles-per-hour on the interstate so that his vehicle would not run out of fuel and he would not be stranded on the shoulder of the highway. Def. Br. 16–20. In other words, Dowling argues he needed to drive slow so he could reach his destination.

Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1) provides an exception in the event that "reduced speed is necessary for safe operation or is necessary to comply with the law." Before determining whether the speed was necessary for safe operation, the Court must determine what qualifies as safe operation for the purpose of the statute. The State has not found any case law interpreting this specific statutory language. However, the term "safe operation" is found in four other statutes in the Motor Vehicle Code (Chapters 340-351 of the Wisconsin Statutes).

Wis. Stat. § 346.03(2)(b), which governs the applicability of rules of the road to authorized emergency vehicles, states "[t]he operator of an authorized emergency vehicle may proceed past a red or stop signal

or stop sign, but only after slowing down as may be necessary for safe operation." In practice, this allows authorized emergency vehicles to proceed through a stop sign as long as doing so will not endanger other vehicles around it.

The term "safe operation" is also found in Wis. Stat. § 343.13, which governs restrictions on driving licenses. Wis. Stat. § 343.13(1) states:

[t]he department upon issuing any license pursuant to this chapter may . . . impose restrictions suitable to the licensee's operating ability with respect to the type of or special mechanical control devices required on a motor vehicle which the licensee may operate, or such other restrictions applicable to the licensee as the department may determine to be appropriate to assure the safe operation of a motor vehicle by the licensee.

The term is found, again, in Wis. Stat. § 343.16, which governs driver's license examination of applicants and re-examination of licenses persons. Wis. Stat. § 343.16(2)(d), which provides a waiver for testing standard to motor bicycles or mopeds, states:

The department may promulgate rules authorizing a license examiner to waive the operating skill examination of a person applying for a license to operate a motor bicycle or moped if the applicant has the physical ability to operate the vehicle safely. The rules shall ensure that the applicant demonstrates knowledge of the traffic laws necessary for the safe operation of the vehicle.

Finally, "safe operation" is found in Wis. Stat. § 343.21, which governs license fees. Subsection (2)(b) of that statute, which applies to fees a driver, states, in part,

Payment of the examination fee entitles the person to not more than 3 tests of the person's ability to safely operate the vehicle proposed to be used under s. 121.555(1)(a). If the applicant does not pass the examination for safe operation of the vehicle in 3 such tests, then a 2nd examination fee in the same amount shall be paid, which payment entitles the person to not more than 3 additional tests.

Case 2024AP000524 Brief of Respondent Filed 01-27-2025 Page 19 of 28

While the term "safe operation" is not explicitly used in the statutory language of Wis. Stat. § 346.63, which governs OWI-related offenses, at trial, the State must prove that the defendant is under the influence to a point where their ability to "safely control the vehicle be impaired." Wis. JI—Criminal 2663. The State has to establish that "the person has consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol to cause the person to be less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle." *Id*.

Looking at "safe operation" throughout the motor vehicle code, "safe operation" is clearly used to refer to safely keeping the vehicle in motion. Nowhere can the State find any law that states reaching a destination qualifies as safe operation of the vehicle. Throughout the Wisconsin Statutes, it's clear that "safe operation" applies to the motion of the vehicle and the driver's ability to control it. Not the destination where the vehicle is headed.

There is no evidence in this case that indicates Dowling needed to drive as slow as he did in order to keep his vehicle in motion. In fact, we know that he could have safely driven at highway speeds because he was traveling at that rate prior to receiving the low battery notification from his vehicle.

Accordingly, this Court should find that the use of "safe operation" in Wis. Stat. § 346.59(1) does not consider the ability to reach one's destination without running out of fuel. Further, because Dowling's excuse is not considered under the exception carved out in § 346.59(1), that exception is not available to him.

IV. The Evidence Presented at Trial Was Sufficient to Support the Trial Court's Finding That The Defendant's Slow Speed Was Not Necessary for Safe Operation of the Vehicle.

As discussed above, the State contends that reaching a destination does not qualify as "safe operation" for the purposes of the statute, thus this Court should find the exception does not apply to Mr. Dowling. Assuming, in arguendo, that reaching a destination does qualify as safe operation, Dowling's slow speed was unnecessary as he had multiple options available to him that evening to safely operate his vehicle.

Dowling asks the Court to set aside his conviction because his slow speed was necessary for safe operation of his vehicle. Def. Br. 20. Dowling argues it was undisputed that his reduced speed was necessary for safe operation of the vehicle. That's a disingenuous argument to present to the Court as that was the disputed issue at trial. Dowling's trial counsel argued to the trial court that the slow speed was necessary for safe operation of the vehicle. R. 15-3. The State provided brief argument on that point as well. R.41-3–5; App. 377–379. One of the issues at the trial was clearly whether the slow speed was necessary for safe operation of the vehicle. To say it was undisputed mis-understands and misrepresents the issues at the trial.

The evidence presented at the trial shows that Dowling's speed was not necessary. Necessary is understood to mean "absolutely needed," "of inevitable nature." See Necessary, MERRIAM-WEBSTER ONLINE DICTIONARY, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/necessary (last visited Dec. 4, 2024). Necessity is not defined within the traffic code; however, necessity is a recognized defense available to defendants in criminal cases. While not raised in this case, reviewing how that defense

is used and defined will help the court determine how "necessary" is used and defined in the context of Wis. Stat. § 346.59.

Wis. Stat. § 939.47 governs the necessity defense. That statute states,

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